2015

Steve Brazell, the Armer Texas Trust (Aka Texas Armer Trust), Et Al, Appellants/Plaintiff, vs. Robert v. Brazell, Et Al. Appellees/ Defendants

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has Jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code § 78A-3-102(3)(j). The Utah Supreme Court has assigned this matter to this Court of Appeals under § 78A-3-102(4).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue No. 1: Did The Trial Court Err In Denying Leave To Amend?

The standard of review of a denial to amend pleadings is abuse of discretion.

Kasco Servs. Corp. v. Benson, 831 P.2d 86, 92 (Utah 1992)

Issue No. 2: Did The Trial Court Err In Finding The Proposed Amended Complaint Lacked Particularity Under Utah Rule Civil Procedure 9(b)?

Conclusions of law, by contrast, involve abstract legal questions. They are reviewed under a standard at the other end of the spectrum: de novo. No deference is given to the lower court's analysis of abstract legal questions ... because the lower court has no comparative advantage in resolving legal questions and settled appellate precedent is of crucial importance in establishing a clear, uniform body of law." *In re*

United Effort Plan Trust, 2013 UT 5, ¶ 18, 296 P.3d 742, 748 (citations and quote marks omitted).

Issue No. 3: Did The Trial Court Err In Applying Utah Rule Of Civil Procedure 9(b) To Claims Of Constructive Fraud (Insolvency) Under The Utah Fraudulent Transfer Act?

Conclusions of law, by contrast, involve abstract legal questions. They are reviewed under a standard at the other end of the spectrum: *de novo*. No deference is given to the lower court's analysis of abstract legal questions ... because the lower court has no comparative advantage in resolving legal questions and settled appellate precedent is of crucial importance in establishing a clear, uniform body of law. *In re United Effort Plan Trust*, 2013 UT 5, ¶ 18, 296 P.3d 742, 748 (citations and quote marks omitted).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

No Trial Date was ever set in this matter.

The Complaint was filed on February 1, 2013. An Amended Complaint was filed on April 1, 2013. Whitby's counsel entered an appearance on May 9, 2013. R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Talos and Kasten filed an Answer and Counterclaim against S Brazell as well as a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction of June 14, 2013. An additional appearance of counsel on Whitby's behalf was filed on June 17, 2013. The Appellants filed an Answer to the

Counterclaim on July 5, 2013. Judge John Paul Kennedy recused himself and Judge Andrew Stone was assigned this case on June 17, 2013.

The Appellants moved for expedited discovery including the oral deposition of R Brazell on June 21, 2014. Rather than provide the discovery, the IBN Defendants withdrew their request for injunctive relief on June 24, 2014.

On July 23, 2013, Craig Jacobsen, counsel for the R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten and Talos, first advised counsel for the Appellants that they were claiming a conflict of interest existed between the Appellants and their counsel.

An Answer was filed by Mark Oleksik on August 12, 2013.

On August 30, 2013, counsel for the Appellants called and wrote Jacobsen regarding a meeting to discuss pre-trial issues on September. Counsel got a rather tepid response to his entreaty. Again, the conflict of interest issue was raised by R Brazell's, the IBN Defendants', Kasten's and Talos' counsel. A Second Amended Complaint was filed on September 3, 2013. A meeting between counsel for Appellants, John Mertens and Donald H. Flanary, and counsel for R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten and Talos, Craig Jacobsen, was held at Jacobsen's office on September 6, 2013. On September 9, 2013, following up on the September 6, 2013 meeting, Flanary sent Jacobsen a letter that contained a proposed scheduling order for his consideration.

On September 18, 2013, Flanary wrote Jacobsen regarding outstanding discovery and requested he be advised of the deficiencies in the Appellants' initial

disclosures the IBN Defendants were claiming existed. On September 18, 2013, Flanary wrote Jacobsen regarding the status of an agreement on pre-trial matters. On September 30, 2013, Flanary again wrote Jacobsen regarding pre-trial matter and discovery.

Robert V. Brazell's, In Store Broadcasting Network, LLC's, In Store Broadcasting Holdings, LLC's, IBN Media, LLC's, In Touch LLC's, In Touch Media LLC's, Talos Partners, LLC's, and Robert W. Kasten Jr.'s Motion to Amend Counterclaim and add third party was granted November 6, 2013. Daniel P. Kondos filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction on December 12, 2013.

On December 13, 2013, Flanary, wrote Jacobsen confirming a meeting in Salt Lake City to discuss discovery and pretrial issues. On December 14, 2013, Flanary sent draft Confidentiality and Scheduling Orders to Jacobsen and Mark D. Stubbs, counsel for Mark Oleksik for their review. On December 30, 2013, Mr. Flanary sent Jacobsen a later version of the proposed Confidentiality and Scheduling Orders. On January 6, 2014, Flanary wrote Jacobsen regarding the proposed Confidentiality and Scheduling Orders.

Robert Brazell's, In Store Broadcasting Network, LLC's, In Store Broadcasting Holdings, LLC's, IBN Media, LLC's, In Touch, LLC's and In Touch Media, LLC's, Talos Partners, LLC's, and Robert W. Kasten Jr.'s amended counterclaim and third party complaint was filed on January 17, 2014.

On January 23, 2014, Mertens wrote Jacobsen regarding the proposed Confidentiality and Scheduling Orders. The Stipulated Discovery and Scheduling Order was filed on January 31, 2014. It was agreed to by everyone in the lawsuit except Whitby who had not yet answered. Whitby's counsel was served with a copy of the agreement. On February 2, 2014, Mertens wrote Jacobsen again seeking dates to take R Brazell's deposition. On February 7, 2014, Jacobsen wrote Mertens regarding the aforementioned R Brazell deposition. In that communication Jacobsen wrote, "We spent months coming to an agreement on a global discovery order. We intend to follow the order...." On February 17, 2014, Mertens advises Jacobsen the Appellants would like to take R Brazell's deposition the first week in April.

The Motion to Disqualify Attorney Donald H. Flanary, Jr. and The Law Firm of Pia Anderson Dorius & Moss was filed on February 26, 2014. On February 28, 2014, Mertens and Jacobsen exchanged communications regarding the conflict of interest issues. A Third Amended Complaint was filed on March 6, 2014. The Third Amended Complaint was filed without leave of Court because the parties agreed and stipulated that additional parties had to be added by March 6, 2014 in the Stipulated Discovery and Scheduling Order filed with the Court on January 31, 2014. The Court adopted the Scheduling Order at its May 8, 2014 hearing. While R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten, Talos and Whitby now complain about the filing of the Third Amended Complaint, the language agreed to in the filed order and reaffirmed by Jacobsen as follows:

“Other Parties shall be joined pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure by March 6, 2014. A motion for leave to add parties is not necessary, provided the parties are added by this date, otherwise leave of Court is required.”

On April 18, 2014, the Appellants filed their Motion for Rule 11 Sanctions. On April 25, 2014, R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten and Talos filed their Expedited Motion to Continue Preliminary Injunction Hearing Without Date and Stay All Procedural Matters, Except for the Kondos Motion to Dismiss and the Motion to Disqualify.

Beginning in February 2014, the Appellants tried to discover relevant documents about the IBN Defendants’ and Whitby’s conduct from Stubbs, Mark Oleksik’s counsel. These efforts were thwarted by the failure of Jacobsen to respond to Stubbs. It was only after Stubbs wrote Jacobsen on May 1, 2014 threatening to involve the Court that Stubbs got what he needed to produce the document in May 2014.

On May 2, 2014, Mertens and Jacobsen exchanged communications regarding R Brazell’s unilateral decision not to appear at his deposition that was noticed for May 6, 2014.

On May 8, 2014, the Court, after hearing the Parties, ordered: a) The motion to disqualify is denied; b) The Preliminary Injunction hearing is stricken and cannot be reset until IBN Defendants have responded to outstanding discovery requests and

R Brazell appeared for deposition; c) The Plea to the Jurisdiction is continued until Kondos obtains sufficient discovery and he may request an evidentiary hearing; d) The IBN Defendants were ordered to respond to the Rule 11 motion in 10 days; e) The Appellants and the IBN Defendants are ordered to meet and confer on outstanding discovery; and, f) The Parties Stipulated Discovery and Scheduling Order remains in effect and unmodified, without prejudice to the parties' ability to seek a continuance as the discovery process continues.

On May 21, 2014, Jacobsen asked Mertens for more time to respond to the Plaintiffs' Rule 11 Motion. Jacobsen was given the time he requested.

Whitby filed an answer to the Third Amended Complaint on May 29, 2014.

On June 30, 2014, the oral deposition of R Brazell was commenced and ended prior to its completion when he unilaterally terminated the deposition.

A Fourth Amended Complaint was filed on July 3, 2014, without leave of Court because the parties agreed and stipulated that amended pleadings had to be filed by July 3, 2014, in the Stipulated Discovery and Scheduling Order filed with the Court on January 31, 2014. The Court adopted the Scheduling Order at its May 8, 2014 hearing.

Just as with the Third Amended Complaint, R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten, Talos and Whitby now complain about the filing of the Fourth Amended

Complaint even thought it was timely filed. The language agreed in to in the filed order and reaffirmed by Jacobsen is as follows:

“Amended pleadings shall be filed by July 3, 2014. This included, but was not limited to cross-claims, counterclaims, defenses, affirmative defenses, caused of action, remedies requested, and relief requested. A motion for leave to amend is not necessary.”

The Court held a hearing on the Plaintiffs’ Rule 11 Motion for Sanctions on July 16, 2014.

On July 17, 2014, Mertens and Jacobsen exchanged communications regarding the IBN Defendants’ document production the preceding week.

Whitby filed an answer to the Fourth Amended Complaint on July 18, 2014.

On August 6, 2014, Mertens wrote Jacobsen regarding the IBN Defendants’ document production. On August 7, 2014, Appellants served supplemental disclosures per the Court’s Order.

On September 2, 2014, the Court signed its Order on the Appellants’ Motion for Sanctions. The Court granted the motion in part and denied it in part. The Court denied it as to the Motion to Disqualify. The Court granted it because of its *in terrorem* effect in obtaining leverage against Plaintiffs. The Court found that the Counterclaim as to all the Plaintiffs, except S Brazell, was filed without evidence or without the likelihood of obtaining evidentiary support and dismissed all the Counterclaims except those against S Brazell. The Court reserved the issue of

monetary sanctions. The Court further set up a schedule and for the Appellants and the IBN Defendants to follow in resolving their discovery issues. Finally, the Court admonished R Brazell for his unilateral cancellation of his deposition and denied his motion to stay.

On September 19, 2014, Mertens wrote Jacobsen inquiring as to when the parties could meet and confer regarding the deficiency statement they had exchanged. On October 9, 2014, a Notice of Appearance was filed by Prince Yates & Geldzahler.

The IBN Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice was filed on October 29, 2014. The IBN Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice was filed on October 29, 2014.

The Declaration of Robert V. Brazell in Support of The IBN Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice was filed on October 29, 2014. Von Whitby's Joinder in The IBN Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice was filed on October 29, 2014.

The IBN Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action with Prejudice was filed on November 21, 2014. The IBN Defendants' Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action with Prejudice was filed on November 21, 2014.

Whitby requested the Court reset the evidentiary hearing on Daniel P.

Kondos 12(b)(2) motion as to personal jurisdiction on November 24, 2014. The Court on November 25, 2014 set the evidentiary hearing on Daniel P. Kondos 12(b)(2) motion as to personal jurisdiction for January 5, 2014 at 1:30 p.m.

Von Whitby's Joinder in the IBN Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action with Prejudice was filed on December 1, 2014. Robert Riley's Joinder in the IBN Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action with Prejudice was filed on December 2, 2014.

The Appellants filed their Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint and their Fifth Amended Complaint on December 3, 2014. The Appellants filed their Memorandum in Support of Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint December 3, 2014.

The Appellants filed their Memorandum in Opposition to the IBN Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice on December 3, 2014. The Appellants filed their Memorandum in Opposition to the IBN Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action with Prejudice on December 3, 2014. The Appellants filed Objection and Motion to Exclude the Declaration of Robert V. Brazell in Support of IBN Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice on December 3, 2014. R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten and Talos filed their Reply to the Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to the IBN Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice on December 10, 2014. R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten and Talos filed their Reply to the Plaintiffs'

Memorandum in Opposition to the IBN Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action with Prejudice on December 10, 2014. The Plaintiffs' Notice of Errata Regarding Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to IBN Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action with Prejudice on December 17, 2014. The Appellants filed Objection and Motion to Exclude the Tolling Agreement Made a Part of the IBN Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice on December 17, 2014.

Whitby filed an Opposition to the Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Complaint on December 17, 2014. The Parties filed a Stipulated Motion for Order Regarding Calendar on December 23, 2014. The Court signed an Order Regarding Calendar on December 26, 2014.

After a number of refusals to appear at deposition and mid-deposition walk-outs, the Deposition of the main defendant, R Brazell, occurred on January 21, 2014, the day before the Trial Court's memorandum decision was entered, and long after it was briefed and argued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Trial Court Erred In Denying Leave To Amend.

Rule 15(a) provides that "leave shall be freely given when justice so requires." Utah R. Civ. P. 15(a). It is well established that "[R]ule 15 should be interpreted liberally so as to allow parties to have their claims fully adjudicated," and "[t]his is especially true when the motion to amend is made well in advance of trial." *Nunez v.*

Albo, 53 P.3d 2, 10 (Utah Ct. App. 2002) (quotation and citation omitted). “[T]he fundamental purpose of [Utah’s] liberalized pleading rules is to afford parties ‘the privilege of presenting whatever legitimate contentions they have pertaining to their dispute subject only to the requirement that their adversary have fair notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim and a general indication of the type of litigation involved.’ *Williams v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 656 P.2d 966, 971 (Utah 1982) (quoting *Cheney v. Rucker*, 381 P.2d 86, 91 (Utah 1963); *Blackham v. Snelgrove*, 280 P.2d 453, 455 (Utah 1955)).

The parties are entitled to “notice of the issues raised and an opportunity to meet them. When this is accomplished, that is all that is required.” *Cheney*, 381 P.2d at 91. “Generally, refusing leave to amend is only justified upon a showing of undue delay, bad faith, or undue prejudice to the opposing party.” *Childers v. Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 676 F.2d 1338, 1343 (10th Cir. 1982) (citing *Foman v. Davis*, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962)), *Nebraska v. Wyoming*, 515 U.S. 1, 8. (1995).¹ A party can amend its pleading before trial to correct errors and defects in the pleadings. *Schacht v. Brown*, 711 F.2d 1343, 1352 (7th Cir. 1983).

¹ Nearly identical to the Utah Rule, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a) states that “[t]he court should freely give leave [to amend] when justice so requires.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2). Where the language of the corresponding rule is substantially similar to that of the Utah rule, federal interpretations are persuasive. *Arbogast Family Trust v. River Crossings, LLC*, 2010 UT 40, ¶ 24 n. 1, 238 P.3d 1035 (citations omitted).

An opposing party is prejudiced where he or she is forced to adjudicate an issue “for which he or she had no time to prepare.” *Swan Creek Vill. Homeowners Ass'n v. Warner*, 134 P.3d 1122, 1127 (Utah 2006) (quotations and alterations omitted). Importantly, prejudice will only justify denial if it is “undue or substantial prejudice, because almost every amendment of a pleading will result in some practical prejudice to the opposing party.” *Id.*

The Trial Court Erred In Finding The Proposed Amended Complaint Lacked Particularity Under Utah Rule Civil Procedure 9(b)

There are no factual issues to resolve in this portion of the appeal because when considering a Motion to Dismiss, Utah Courts “accept the factual allegations as true and draw all reasonable inferences from those facts in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff.” See e.g., *State v. Apotex Corp.*, 282 P.3d 66, 70 (Utah 2012); *Peck v. State*, 191 P.3d 4 (Utah 2008).

“While [w]e have stressed ... that mere conclusory allegations in a pleading, unsupported by a recitation of relevant surrounding facts, are insufficient to preclude ... summary judgment, a sufficiently clear and specific description of the facts underlying the [plaintiff's] claim of fraudulent concealment.... will satisfy the requirements of Rule 9(b). Our liberalized pleading rules are designed to afford parties the privilege of presenting whatever legitimate contentions they have pertaining to their dispute, subject only to the requirement that their adversary have fair notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim and a general indication of

the type of litigation involved.” *Hill v. Allred*, 2001 UT 16, ¶ 14, 28 P.3d 1271, 1275 (citations and quote marks omitted).

**The Trial Court Erred In Applying Utah Rule Of Civil Procedure 9(b) To
Claims Of Constructive Fraud (Insolvency) Under The Utah Fraudulent
Transfer Act**

The applicability of Rule 9(b) to Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (UFTA) claims is an issue of first impression in the Utah Courts. The matter has been addressed in the United States District Court of Utah. The Court held that Rule 9(b) did not apply to “constructive” fraud claims under the UFTA. “Though there is some disagreement between the circuits, *see, e.g., Kranz v. Koenig*, 240 F.R.D. 453, 455 (D.Minn.2007) (describing the differing approaches taken by several courts), courts generally apply Rule 9(b)'s requirements to intentional fraudulent transfer claims which turn on the transferor's “an actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud,” but not to constructive fraudulent transfer claims which turn solely on the sufficiency of the consideration and the transferor's financial condition. *See, e.g., In re Sharp Int'l Corp.*, 403 F.3d 43, 56 (2d Cir.2005) (applying Rule 9(b) to an intentional fraudulent transfer claim because an “actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud constitutes fraud [and therefore] must be pled with specificity”); *Van-American Ins. Co. v. Schiappa, et al.*, 191 F.R.D. 537, 541–43 (S.D. Ohio 2000); *In re NM Holdings Co., LLC*, 407 B.R. 232, 258 (Bankr.E.D.Mich.2009); *In re Motorwerks, Inc.*, 371 B.R. 281, 295 (Bankr.S.D.Ohio 2007); *In re Plassein Int'l. Corp.*, 352 B.R. 36, 40 (Bankr.D.Del.2006); *In re Commercial Financial Services, Inc.*, 322 B.R. 440, 450

(Bankr.N.D.Okla.2003); In re *White Metal Rolling & Stamping Corp.*, 222 B.R. 417, 428–29 (Bankr.S.D.N.Y.1998). The underlying rationale of these cases is that “there is no reason to require a trustee to plead a defendant's fraud or misconduct with specificity if such fraud or misconduct is not an element of the trustee's fraudulent transfer claim.” *Motorwerks*, 371 B.R. at 295.” *Wing v. Horn*, No. 2:09-CV-00342, 2009 WL 2843342, at *3 (D. Utah Aug. 28, 2009)

ARGUMENTS

The Trial Court Erred In Denying Leave To Amend

Utah R. Civ. P. 15(a) provides “leave shall be freely given when justice so requires.” It is well settled law that “[R]ule 15 should be interpreted liberally so as to allow parties to have their claims fully adjudicated,” and “[t]his is especially true when the motion to amend is made well in advance of trial.” *Nunez v. Albo*, 53 P.3d 2, 10 (Utah Ct. App. 2002) (quotation and citation omitted). Neither R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten, Talos, nor Whitby provided the Court with any authority that is contrary to this proposition. As the Court can see, there was never a trial date in this matter and discovery is under way.

In the proposed amended complaint, the Appellants set out with a high degree of particularity each element of a fraud claim including: 1) who made the statement or representation; 2) to whom the statement or representation was made; 3) when the statement or representation was made; 4) how the statement or representation (the context) was made; 5) how the statement or representation was communicated to the

Appellants; 6) the Appellants or other person to whom the statement or representation was communicated; 7) that the statement or representation was material; 8) that the statement or representation was false when made; 9) that the Appellee who made the statement or representation knew of its falsity at the time it was made; 10) that the Appellants had no knowledge of the falsity of the statement or representation when it was made; 11) that the Appellees or their agents made the statements or representations with the intent to induce the Appellants to invest in In-Store Broadcasting Holding, LLC or delay taking some action on any concerns the Appellants may have had; 12) that the Appellants were within their rights to rely on the statements or representations of the Appellees when they were made; 13) that the particular statements or representations made by the Appellees were actually relied on by the Appellants as truthful; 14) that the statements or representations of the Appellees were made with the intent to hide or conceal the fraudulent and illegal actions of the Appellees from the Appellants; 15) that the statements or representations of the Appellees were made with the intent to hide or conceal the conflicts of interest and self dealing in which the Appellees engaged to the Appellants' detriment; 16) that the conduct and the course of business of the Appellees was a legal cause of harm to the Appellants; and, 17) the actual amount of the damages claimed by each of the Appellants. As to each of these allegations, S Brazell and the Investor Appellants identify the individual Appellant or groups of

Appellants, individual Appellee or groups of Appellees involved in each such allegation.

Additionally, S Brazell and the Investor Plaintiffs set out a claim against R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten and Whitby under the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer act to which Rule 9(b) is not applicable. It is what is sometimes referred to as a "constructive fraud" claim. This claim revolves around the issue of R Brazell's, the IBN Defendant's, Kasten's and Whitby's conduct at a time when IBN was insolvent. Judge Stone completely ignored this issue. It was also raised in the Fourth Amended Complaint.

"[T]he fundamental purpose of [Utah's] liberalized pleading rules is to afford parties 'the privilege of presenting whatever legitimate contentions they have pertaining to their dispute 'subject only to the requirement that their adversary have 'fair notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim and a general indication of the type of litigation involved.' *Williams v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 656 P.2d 966, 971 (Utah 1982) (quoting *Cheney v. Rucker*, 381 P.2d 86, 91 (Utah 1963); *Blackham v. Snelgrove*, 280 P.2d 453, 455 (Utah 1955)). Again, neither the R Brazell, IBN Defendants, Kasten nor Von Whitby provided the Court with any authority that is contrary to this proposition. The proposed amended pleading not only gave fair notice as required under Utah law but it gave particularized notice of the claim of every Plaintiff against each Defendant.

R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten and Whitby had specific notice of the issues raised and contrary to their allegations, each issue has been fully responded to by the S Brazell and the Investor Plaintiffs. The parties are entitled to "notice of the issues raised and an opportunity to meet them. When this is accomplished, that is all that is required." *Cheney*, 381 P.2d at 91. R Brazell, the IBN Defendants, Kasten and Whitby know the issues, have served discovery on the S Brazell and the Investor Plaintiffs and that discovery has been responded to fully and fairly.

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