2016

The Armer Texas Trust, Et Al., Plaintiffs and Appellants, vs. Robert v. Brazell, Et Al., Defendants and Appellees

Utah Court of Appeals

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

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Where fraud is alleged, defendants have a right to a particularized pleading explaining, at a minimum, the "who, what, when, where, and how" of the alleged

misrepresentations. This allows each defendant to formulate his or her individual defenses. In this case, for example, Whitby was a manager of one or more defendant entities, but only at certain periods of time, and long after the Plaintiffs made their investments. Probably for this reason, the Plaintiffs did not treat Whitby as a primary target: the Plaintiffs stipulated that Whitby need not respond to the complaint until after all Defendants had been served, and this stipulation remained in place for a full year until it was unilaterally revoked by the Plaintiffs (despite the fact that all Defendants had still not been served).

After almost two years of litigation and multiple versions of their complaint, however, the Plaintiffs still had not stated with any particularity what misrepresentations of fact were said to whom, by whom, and when, and how, and (of particular importance with respect to Whitby) what Whitby's purported involvement had been in any such representations. Faced with a motion to dismiss, the Plaintiffs abandoned their prior iterations of the complaint, instead relying entirely on a proposed Fifth Amended Complaint which *still* could not explain what purported misrepresentations were made by whom, to which Plaintiff, and when, and how each Plaintiff relied. Carefully reviewing this proposed complaint, the trial court determined that not only was it untimely, prejudicial, and unjustified, it still failed to plead fraud with the requisite particularity demanded by Rule 9(b). As the trial court succinctly held, "[s]ix tries at pleading fraud are enough." (R. at 3598.)

There are additional reasons to affirm. Not only did the Plaintiffs fail to adequately plead their claims, they failed to make proper disclosures under Rule 26,

failing to disclose any anticipated testimony implicating Whitby and failing to disclose their computation of damages. And, in response to Whitby's motion for summary judgment, the Plaintiffs conceded that their Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act claim should be dismissed.

The Plaintiffs have ignored their obligations under the Rules at every turn, including, as the latest example, their failure to cite the record in their appellate brief. Accordingly, the appeal should be dismissed and the trial court affirmed.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. THE PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO CITE THE RECORD BELOW.

As set forth in the brief of the IBN Defendants, which arguments are adopted herein pursuant to Rule 24(i), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Appellants' Brief should be stricken and the appeal dismissed for the Plaintiffs' failure to cite to the record. The rules are clear, as is the precedent authorizing dismissal. The Plaintiffs have "dump[ed] the burden or their argument and research" on this Court, *see Andersen v. Andersen*, 2015 UT App 260, ¶ 6, 361 P.3d 698, and the Appellants' Brief should be stricken and the appeal dismissed on this basis alone.

B. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED LEAVE TO AMEND.

Even if the Court were to consider the Plaintiffs' non-compliant appellate brief, the trial court's decision should be affirmed. The Plaintiffs do not challenge the trial court's dismissal of each of their complaints up to and including the Fourth Amended Complaint. Accordingly, this appeal hinges on the trial court's denial of the Plaintiffs' motion for leave to file their proposed Fifth Amended Complaint. As the Plaintiffs

concede, denial of leave to amend is reviewed under the “abuse of discretion” standard.

(*See* Appellants’ Br. at 2.)

The trial court, in its thorough and well-reasoned Memorandum Decision, correctly determined that the proposed Fifth Amended Complaint was untimely, prejudicial, and unjustified. (*See* R. at 3595.) Moreover, the trial court determined that amendment would be futile as the proposed Fifth Amended Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. (*See* R. at 3594-600.) Specifically, it failed to plead the Plaintiffs’ claims with the particularity required by Rule 9(b). In this regard, the trial court made specific reference to Whitby, observing:

Defendant Whitby’s joinder in the Motion illustrates this problem. It is impossible to tell from the Fifth Amended Complaint when Whitby supposedly joined Plaintiffs’ posited conspiracy, and which Plaintiff relied on any representation with which he might possibly be charged. No allegation is made of any representation actually made by him. As Whitby pointed out in argument, he has factual defenses to make based on when he came to the company, so each plaintiff needs to explain what representation they relied on as to which that they can properly claim Whitby is accountable. . . . Rule 9(b) is essential in such as case; Whitby is entitled to the specifics of each plaintiff’s claim against him, without being lumped together with every other defendant, defending the lumped-together claims of every plaintiff.

(R. at 3596-97.)

On appeal, the Plaintiffs do not challenge the trial court’s application of Rule 9(b) to their claims (except as to their UFTA claim, addressed below). Moreover, the Plaintiffs largely ignore the trial court’s reasoning and analysis as to futility, making only the conclusory assertion that they “set forth the ‘who, what, when, where, and how’” of their claims, but failing to identify with any specificity where in the proposed Fifth

Amended Complaint such questions are answered as to any particular Plaintiff, any particular Defendant, or any particular misrepresentation. (See Appellants' Br. at 25-26.) Thus, the Plaintiffs have dumped upon the trial court and now upon this Court the burden of sifting through the alleged facts to ascertain whether Plaintiffs have alleged facts necessary to make all their elements of their claims. See *Coroles v. Sabey*, 2003 UT App 339, ¶ 27, 79 P.3d 974. This approach is "unacceptable." *Id.*

Pursuant to Rule 24(i), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Whitby adopts by reference the arguments of the IBN Defendants as to the correctness of the trial court's denial of leave to amend. The trial court's decision should be affirmed.

C. ALTERNATIVE GROUNDS FOR AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT.

The trial court's decision should also be affirmed on alternative grounds. It is well-settled that an appellate court may affirm the judgment appealed from

if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though such ground differs from that stated by the trial court to be the basis of its ruling or action, and this is true even though such ground or theory . . . was not considered or passed on by the lower court.

Bailey v. Bayles, 2002 UT 58, ¶¶ 10, 13, 52 P.3d 1158 (affirming court of appeals in affirming trial court's order on alternative grounds) (quoting *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 2001 UT 61, ¶ 18, 29 P.3d 1225).

1. The Plaintiffs Failed to Meet Their Disclosure Obligations.

As is apparent on the record, the Plaintiffs' claims also fail for their failure to make, during fact discovery, the requisite disclosures for the presentation of their case-in-chief. Under Rule 26, the Plaintiffs were required to provide, as part of their initial

disclosures, the name of each individual likely to have discoverable information supporting their claims and each fact witness they may call in their case-in-chief with a “summary of the expected testimony.” Utah R. Civ. P. 26(a)(1)(A). In addition, the Plaintiffs were required to provide “a computation of any damages claimed and a copy of all discoverable documents or evidentiary material on which such computation is based.” *Id.* at 26(a)(1)(C).

Rule 26(d)(4) provides that a party’s failure to submit timely disclosures precludes that party from using the undisclosed evidence, unless the failure is harmless or the party shows good cause for the failure. *Id.* at 26(d)(4). Regarding initial disclosures, the commentary to Rule 26 explains:

The penalty for failing to make timely disclosures is that the evidence may not be used in the party's case-in-chief. **To make the disclosure requirement meaningful, and to discourage sandbagging, parties must know that if they fail to disclose important information that is helpful to their case, they will not be able to use that information at trial.** The courts will be expected to enforce them unless the failure is harmless or the party shows good cause for the failure.

Id. at R. 26, Advisory Committee Notes (emphasis added).

Here, the Plaintiffs had the affirmative obligation to disclose any testimony and documents they intended to present to establish their claims. Moreover, the trial court specifically warned the Plaintiffs that without an adequate description of witness testimony, their witnesses would be precluded from testifying. (R. at 2890-92.) Even in the face of this warning, the Plaintiffs failed to disclose any testimony or documents which demonstrate liability. The Plaintiffs completely failed to provide any facts which set forth a single representation by Whitby to any Plaintiff, much less a

misrepresentation, much less one on which any Plaintiff relied to its detriment. This failure is fatal to their claims. And, the Plaintiffs had plenty of time to make the requisite disclosures: based on the presumptive 210-day period found in Rule 26(c), fact discovery closed in February 2014, long before the trial court's dismissal. (*See* R. at 125-26)

Further, the Plaintiffs' failure to make an adequate disclosure of their damages computation is fatal to each of their claims. With respect to the disclosure of damages information, the Rule 26 commentary explains that "[p]arties should make a good faith attempt to compute damages to the extent it is possible to do so and must in any event provide all discoverable information on the subject, including materials related to the nature and extent of the damages." Utah R. Civ. P. 26, Advisory Committee Notes. The Plaintiffs did nothing more than pull a \$40 million dollar number out of the air without any support or explanation or any discernible relationship to the allegations and claims. (R. at 2884-88.) Thus, having failed to disclose a computation of damages, the Plaintiffs would be precluded from presenting evidence of damages, and their claims—whether under the proposed Fifth Amended Complaint or any prior complaint—would fail. The trial court's dismissal should be affirmed on this alternative basis.

2. The Plaintiffs Conceded That They Have No UFTA Claim Against Whitby.

The Plaintiffs' proposed Fifth Amended Complaint added four causes of action: "Constructive Trust," "Fraudulent Transfer," "Derivative Action," and "Request for Receivership." (R. at 2634-37.) The trial court denied the Motion to Amend as to these claims "without regard to futility" and on the grounds that they were untimely, without

justification, and unduly prejudicial. (R. at 3598-99.) Apparently ignoring this portion of the trial court's decision, the Plaintiffs make the ironic claim that the trial court "ignored" their Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("UFTA") claim and argue that the trial court incorrectly applied Rule 9(b) to their UFTA claim.¹ (See Appellants' Br. at 26-28.) The Plaintiffs' argument was not preserved and, in any event, lacks merit for the reasons set forth in the IBN Defendants' brief, which reasons are adopted and incorporated herein.

In addition, the trial court's rejection of the Plaintiffs' UFTA claim should be affirmed on alternative grounds as to Whitby. Whitby moved for summary judgment arguing, *inter alia*, that the Plaintiffs' newly-added claims should be dismissed as a matter of law. (R. at 2814-52.) In response, the Plaintiffs conceded summary judgment on their late-filed claims, including their UFTA claim. (R. at 3382.) Although the trial court issued its Memorandum Decision before briefing on Whitby's summary judgment motion was complete, the Plaintiffs' concession of judgment stands on the record and provides an alternative basis for this Court to affirm the trial court's decision.